
 Lower Russian River Municipal Advisory 
Council (MAC)  

Land Use Standing Committee,  
Mike Nicholls, Chair 

February 9, 2023, 6 – 7:30 PM 
In accordance with AB 361, Governor Newsom’s March 4, 2020 State of 

Emergency due to the COVID-19 pandemic and the Sonoma County Board of 
Supervisors Resolution 21-0399, the River MAC meeting will be held virtually. The meeting will 
be on Zoom, links below. After the meeting, videos are available on Facebook and on the 5th 

District YouTube channel https://www.youtube.com/@sonomacounty5thdistrict 
 
Please click the link below to join the webinar: 
https://sonomacounty.zoom.us/j/95782188395?pwd=SlMveFhQRWd4SjA2VnV6U2grZDROdz09 
Passcode: 915004 
Or One tap mobile :  US: +16699009128,,95782188395#  or +16694449171,,95782188395#  
Or Telephone: Dial(for higher quality, dial a number based on your current location): 
        US: +1 669 900 9128  or +1 669 444 9171  or +1 253 215 8782  or +1 346 248 7799  or +1 719 359 4580  or +1 253 
205 0468  or +1 646 558 8656  or +1 646 931 3860  or +1 689 278 1000  or +1 301 715 8592  or +1 305 224 1968  or +1 
309 205 3325  or +1 312 626 6799  or +1 360 209 5623  or +1 386 347 5053  or +1 507 473 4847  or +1 564 217 2000  
Webinar ID: 957 8218 8395 

Meeting Agenda 
Call to Order: Mike Nicholls, Chair 
Pledge of Allegiance Roll Call: Clerk, Debbie Ramirez 
A. Approval of Agenda  
B. Statement of conflict of interest 
C. Correspondence 
D. Consent Calendar 

1) Minutes from November 22, 2022 

Calendar Items: 
2) Definition of “Land Use” and Staff Update on Moscow Road Repairs  

"Land use” is the term used to describe the management of land for beneficial use and 
the regulatory framework that prescribes permissible use. 

3) Updates on Permits and Projects of Interest 
a) PLP18-0012 Lok Hotel Project. (AKA Guernewood Park Hotel Project) Planner: Alexandra 

Sullivan/Georgia McDaniel  Georgia.McDaniel@sonoma-county.org, 707-565-4919  The 
Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration (IS/MND) will be recirculated for a second time on 
Friday, February 3, 2023 through March 6, 2023.  This is due to the addition of mitigation 
measures required by the California Department of Fish and Wildlife as stated in the CDFW 
letter, dated November 29, 2022, submitted in response to the first recirculation of the IS/MND, 
November 2, 2022 through December 2, 2022, due to applicant changes to the project. 

4) Overview of Housing Element  
Scott Orr or Ross Markey from Permit Sonoma Planning Department 
 The Housing Element draft Environmental Impact Report can be viewed online on the Housing 
Element Update webpage. This is an opportunity for county residents to examine and comment on 
the draft Environmental Impact Report during the 45-day public comment period. Written comments 
may be submitted by 11:59 p.m. on Feb. 13, 2023. Comments may be sent via email to 
PermitSonoma-Housing@sonoma-county.org or by regular mail to Permit Sonoma, Attn: Eric Gage, 
2550 Ventura Ave., Santa Rosa, California 95403. 

 
Call for Agenda Items 
Adjournment 

https://www.youtube.com/@sonomacounty5thdistrict
mailto:Georgia.McDaniel@sonoma-county.org
https://permitsonoma.org/longrangeplans/proposedlong-rangeplans/housingelement


 
Documents related to open session agendas: Any writings or documents provided to a majority 
of the Lower Russian River Municipal Advisory Council regarding any item on this agenda after the 
posting of this agenda and not otherwise exempt from disclosure will be made available for public 
review at 575 Administration Drive, Room 100-A, Santa Rosa, CA, during normal business hours. 

 

Disability Accommodations: If you have a disability and require a sign language interpreter, 
assistive listening device, material in an alternate format, or other accommodation to attend, please 
contact District5@sonoma-county.org or call 1-707-565-2241 at least 72 hours prior to the meeting 
in order to facilitate arrangements for accommodation. 

 
STAY INFORMED with a subscription to the 5th District newsletter. Notice of meetings is posted in 
various locations including the MAC webpages on the County of Sonoma website, social media 
accounts, etc. 

 
Lower Russian River MAC Meetings – 2nd Thursday of every month 
Regular Meetings 
Thursday, February 16, 2023, 5:30 – 7 PM 
Thursday, March 9, 2023, 5:30 – 7 PM 
Thursday, April 20, 2023, 5:30 – 7 PM 
Thursday, May 11, 2023, 5:30 – 7 PM 
Thursday, June 8, 2023, 5:30 – 7 PM 
Thursday, July 13, 2023, 5:30 – 7 PM 
Thursday, August 10, 2023, 5:30 – 7 PM 
Thursday, September 14, 2023, 5:30 – 7 PM 
Thursday, October 12, 2023, 5:30 – 7 PM 
Thursday, November 9, 2023, 5:30 – 7 PM 
Thursday, December 14, 2023, 5:30 – 7 PM 
 

 
Lower Russian River Land Use Committee Meetings – 1st Thursdays on alternating even months 
Regular Meetings 
Thursday, February 9, 2023 (2nd Thursday) 
Thursday, April 6, 2023 
Thursday, June 1, 2023 
Thursday, August 3, 2023 

 
Please visit the Lower Russian River MAC website for agendas, including meeting location and 
time: https://sonomacounty.ca.gov/River-Municipal-Advisory-Council/ 

 
Permit Sonoma – Permit History Search: https://sonomacounty.ca.gov/PRMD/Services/Permit- 
History-Search/ 

mailto:contactDistrict5@sonoma-county.orgorcall1-707-565-2241atleast72hourspriortothemeeting
https://sonomacounty.ca.gov/River-Municipal-Advisory-Council/
https://sonomacounty.ca.gov/PRMD/Services/Permit-History-Search/
https://sonomacounty.ca.gov/PRMD/Services/Permit-History-Search/


DRAFT MINUTES 
Lower Russian River Municipal Advisory Council  

Special Land Use Standing Committee 
Mike Nicholls, Chair 

November 22, 2022, 6-7pm 
 
 
 

Call to Order: Mike Nicholls, Chair called the meeting to order at 6 PM 
Pledge of Allegiance, Vesta Copestakes 

Roll Call: Present: Chair Mike Nicholls, Herman J. Hernandez, Lisa Nahmanson, Patty 
Thayer, Joe Rogoff 

A. Approval of Agenda: Chair Nicholls suggested that the Parade of Lights item be moved to before the 
Lok Hotel project due to anticipated extended public comment. Lisa Nahamanson motioned approval with 
that change, Patty Thayer seconded and the motion passed unanimously.  

B. Statement of conflict of interest – there were none 
C. Correspondence there was no correspondence 
D. Consent Calendar 

1) Minutes from July 27, 2022 – by unanimous vote, the minutes were approved with a typo 
correction regarding meetings continuing to take place on Thursdays, not Tuesdays. Motion 
by Joe Rogoff & second by Herman J. Hernandez.  

Calendar Items: 
2) Updates on Permits and Projects of Interest 

  
a. PLP18-0012 Lok Hotel Project. Planner: Alexandra Sullivan/Georgia McDaniel  

Georgia.McDaniel@sonoma-county.org, 707-565-4919 
Discussion around reduced height of building and revised application. Now 108 
rooms, with top floor removed. And modified entrance, 2 main buildings with 80 rooms 
and 28 suites. Building is now 35’. Public restrooms, charging stations, and 25 public 
parking spots (above reserved guest parking) Chair Nicholls noted that a Notice of 
Completion and Environmental Document Transmittal has been sent from the county 
to the state was received after the agenda was published. 
 
Committee member Hernandez gave an overview of his familiarity with the property 
and noted that there has been community concern expressed about traffic. Committee 
member Rogoff concerned about the size, even with the reduction in height. Traffic 
concerns. Fire and emergency ingress and egress are also concerned. This is overall 
a good location for a project such as this, but perhaps it should be smaller. What can 
be done to mitigate the issues around traffic. Would like more attention paid to these 
issues. Committee member Nahmanson reflected also on the size of the development 
and also would like to hear more about managing traffic, especially emergencies. 
Appreciates the commitment to maintaining public easements, public parking, trash 
collection, ADA access to the river. Committee member Thayer commended the 
people who worked on this issue previously for keeping good records of the process. It 
sounds like the developers have been responsive to past community feedback. She 
has heard concerns from the public about traffic impact with a project of that size and 
people would like more information on the traffic studies that were done. Chair 
Nicholls reported that he walked the property with the developers and Planning 
Commissioner Koenigshofer he noted that the architect and owners of the property 

mailto:Georgia.McDaniel@sonoma-county.org


have worked hard to comply with the community input received at community 
meetings.  
 
There was public comment regarding traffic, water, beach capacity, also appreciation 
for project, overall concern for density and traffic impacts. Will the hotel guests be 
required to evacuate early in case of emergency. 
 
Chair Nicholls  noted that this will be on the agenda of the Board of Zoning 
Adjustments (BZA) meeting on December 15. Committee member Hernandez moved 
to advise the full MAC board that the committee has been presented the item and for 
the record documented the committee member and public comments. Councilmember 
Thayer seconded. Motion passed unanimously. 
at  
 

b. SPE22-0033 Guerneville Parade of Lights, Special Event Encroachment Permit 
Councilmembers discussed the comprehensive, well organized application and 
expressed appreciation for resumption of the parade with rerouting. Motion to report 
out consensus at Dec 15 MAC Meeting by Joe Rogoff, second by Patty Thayer. 
Passed by unanimous roll call vote. 

  
Adjournment,  
Chair Nicholls adjourned the meeting 7:02 PM 
 
Meeting recording available at: 
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=rKQanhYY6PE 

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=rKQanhYY6PE


 
 

 
NOTICE OF INTENT TO ADOPT A REVISED MITIGATED NEGATIVE 

DECLARATION PURSUANT TO  
THE CALIFORNIA ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY ACT (CEQA) 

 
WHO: Project Applicant, Lok Guernewood Park Development Company, LLC, Permit 

Sonoma File No. PLP18-0012 
 
WHAT: Use Permit and Design Review to construct a 108-room resort, implement a Streamside 

Conservation Plan to allow for Riparian Corridor encroachment of 4,490 square feet, 
habitat restoration of 1.26 acres, and to construct improved public river access, parking 
lot and trail on a 9.61-acre property. The project includes two main hotel buildings and 
four detached buildings with 90 rooms and 18 suites, and a maximum building height of 
35 feet. A resort lobby and hotel services, guest spa and gym with an outdoor pool, two 
meeting rooms for special events, and a public restaurant and bar are included, as well 
as 175 total parking spaces (with 25 spaces dedicated for public use), public restroom 
facility, and an ADA-compliant public trail to the Russian River. Proposed hours of 
operation for the resort are 24 hours per day, 7 days per week with up to 37 employees. 
Located at 17155 Highway 116, Guerneville, APNs 072-130-005, -007 and -009. 
Supervisorial District 5. 

 Parcel Zoning: Recreation and Visitor Serving Commercial and Combining Zones for 
Local Area Development Guidelines for Russian River Corridor and Highway 116 
Scenic Corridor, Floodway, Floodplain, Scenic Resources, Riparian Corridor with 50-
foot and 25-foot setbacks, and Valley Oak Habitat. 

 
 In accordance with Public Resource Code and CEQA Guidelines, the County of 

Sonoma provides notice to agencies and interested parties that it is recirculating a final 
Initial Study and Mitigated Negative Declaration (IS/MND) for the project to reflect 
changes in the project description resulting from the Board of Zoning 
Adjustments public hearing held on February 24, 2022, as well as additional 
mitigation measures required for the protection of biological resources. The 
IS/MND did not find potential environmental impacts that could not be mitigated to a 
less-than-significant level. The IS/MND is available at Permit Sonoma at 2550 Ventura 
Avenue, Santa Rosa, CA 95403. 

WHERE &  
WHEN: After the close of the IS/MND public review period, the Sonoma County Board of Zoning 

Adjustments is tentatively scheduled to hold a public hearing on March 23, 2023, to 
consider the adoption of the IS/MND. The hearing will be held at 575 Administration Dr, 
Santa Rosa, CA 95403. A final hearing notice containing instructions on how to attend 
the public hearing will be provided ten (10) days prior to the confirmed hearing date.  

ADDITIONAL  
MATERIALS:   Project materials and associated documents are available at Permit Sonoma, 2550 

Ventura Avenue, Santa Rosa, CA 95403 and digitally through the Project Planner, 
Georgia McDaniel at Georgia.McDaniel@sonoma-county.org or (707) 565-4919 and 
through Planner@sonoma-county.org. Alternative record accommodations are available 
upon request. 

GETTING 
INVOLVED: If you have questions or concerns regarding the proposed project, please contact the 

project planner listed above. The required 30-day public review period on the revised 

mailto:Georgia.McDaniel@sonoma-county.org
file://win.root.sonoma.gov/data/prm/PROJ_REVIEW/Templates%20Forms%20and%20Docs/Public%20Noticing%20Docs/Planner@sonoma-county.org


 
 

IS/MND is February 3, 2023 to March 6, 2023. Comments on the revised IS/MND must 
be received by March 6, 2023, at 5:00PM. All comments received after the review 
period will be included in the public record for consideration and provided to the 
decision-making body prior to or at the public hearing scheduled as above. 

 
 If you challenge the decision on the project in court you may be limited to raising only 

those issues you or someone else raised at the public hearing described in this notice, 
or in written correspondence delivered to Permit Sonoma at or prior to the public 
hearing. 

 
NOTICE  ALSO 
PUBLISHED:  Press Democrat 
 
DATE: February 3, 2023 
 



State of California – Natural Resources Agency  GAVIN NEWSOM, Governor 

DEPARTMENT OF FISH AND WILDLIFE  CHARLTON H. BONHAM, Director 

Bay Delta Region 
2825 Cordelia Road, Suite 100 
Fairfield, CA  94534 
(707) 428-2002 
www.wildlife.ca.gov 

Conserving California’s Wildlife Since 1870 

November 29, 2022  

Georgia McDaniel 
Sonoma County  
2550 Ventura Avenue 
Santa Rosa, CA  95403 
Georgia.McDaniel@sonoma-county.org  

Subject:  Guernewood Park Resort, Mitigated Negative Declaration, SCH No. 
2021080556, Town of Guerneville, Sonoma County 

Dear Ms. McDaniel: 

The California Department of Fish and Wildlife (CDFW) received a Notice of Intent to 
Adopt a Mitigated Negative Declaration (MND) for the Guernewood Park Resort Project 
(project) pursuant to the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA).1  

CDFW is submitting comments on the MND to inform Sonoma County (County), as the 
Lead Agency, of our concerns regarding potentially significant impacts to sensitive 
biological resources associated with the project.  

CDFW ROLE 

CDFW is a Trustee Agency with responsibility under CEQA (Pub. Resources Code, § 
21000 et seq.) pursuant to CEQA Guidelines section 15386 for commenting on projects 
that could impact fish, plant, and wildlife resources. CDFW is also considered a 
Responsible Agency if a project would require discretionary approval, such as a 
California Endangered Species Act (CESA) Permit, a Lake and Streambed Alteration 
(LSA) Agreement, or other provisions of the Fish and Game Code that afford protection 
to the State’s fish and wildlife trust resources.   

REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS 

California Endangered Species Act 

Please be advised that a CESA Permit must be obtained if the project has the potential 
to result in “take” of plants or animals listed under CESA, either during construction or 
over the life of the project. The project has the potential to result in impacts to 
northern spotted owl (Strix occidentalis caurina), a CESA listed as threatened 
species, as further described below. Issuance of a CESA permit is subject to CEQA 

                                                           
1 CEQA is codified in the California Public Resources Code in Section 21000 et seq. The “CEQA 
Guidelines” are found in Title 14 of the California Code of Regulations, commencing with Section 15000. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 29629BC4-F035-45F4-9034-A6C26D203C0B

http://www.wildlife.ca.gov/
mailto:Georgia.McDaniel@sonoma-county.org


Georgia McDaniel 
Sonoma County 
November 29, 2022 
Page 2 

documentation; the CEQA document must specify impacts, mitigation measures, and a 
mitigation monitoring and reporting program. If the project will impact CESA listed 
species, early consultation is encouraged, as significant modification to the project and 
mitigation measures may be required in order to obtain a CESA Permit. 

CEQA requires a Mandatory Finding of Significance if a project is likely to substantially 
restrict the range or reduce the population of a threatened or endangered species. (Pub. 
Resources Code, §§ 21001, subd. (c) & 21083; CEQA Guidelines, §§ 15380, 15064, & 
15065). Impacts must be avoided or mitigated to less-than-significant levels unless the 
CEQA Lead Agency makes and supports Findings of Overriding Consideration (FOC). 
The CEQA Lead Agency’s FOC does not eliminate the project proponent’s obligation to 
comply with Fish and Game Code section 2080. 

Lake and Streambed Alteration 

CDFW requires an LSA Notification, pursuant to Fish and Game Code section 1600 et 
seq., for project activities affecting lakes or streams and associated riparian habitat. 
Notification is required for any activity that may substantially divert or obstruct the 
natural flow; change or use material from the bed, channel, or bank including associated 
riparian or wetland resources; or deposit or dispose of material where it may pass into a 
river, lake, or stream. Work within ephemeral streams, washes, watercourses with a 
subsurface flow, and floodplains are subject to notification requirements. The project 
would impact riparian habitat associated with Hulbert Creek and the Russian 
River; therefore, an LSA Notification is warranted, as further described below. 
CDFW will consider the CEQA document for the project and may issue an LSA 
Agreement. CDFW may not execute the final LSA Agreement (or CESA Incidental Take 
Permit (ITP)) until it has complied with CEQA as a Responsible Agency.  

Raptors and Other Nesting Birds 

CDFW also has jurisdiction over actions that may result in the disturbance or 
destruction of active nest sites or the unauthorized take of birds. Fish and Game Code 
sections protecting birds, their eggs, and nests include sections 3503 (regarding 
unlawful take, possession or needless destruction of the nests or eggs of any bird), 
3503.5 (regarding the take, possession or destruction of any birds-of-prey or their nests 
or eggs), and 3513 (regarding unlawful take of any migratory nongame bird). Migratory 
birds are also protected under the federal Migratory Bird Treaty Act. 

PROJECT DESCRIPTION SUMMARY 

Proponent: Sonoma County 

Objective: Development of a 108-room resort on 3.74 acres of a 9.61-acre property. 
The project includes construction of two main hotel buildings, four separate smaller 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 29629BC4-F035-45F4-9034-A6C26D203C0B



Georgia McDaniel 
Sonoma County 
November 29, 2022 
Page 3 

hotel buildings, accessory buildings including restrooms, public access improvements 
including trails, landscaping, driveways, and parking lots. The project also includes 
implementation of a Streamside Conservation Plan to mitigate for the approximately 
0.42 acres of permanent impacts to riparian habitat. 

Location: The project is located at 17155 Highway 116, in the Town of Guerneville, a 
census-designated place in Sonoma County. The Project is centered at approximate 
coordinates 38.494505 degrees latitude and -123.007683 degrees longitude. 

COMMENTS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 

CDFW offers the below comments and recommendations to assist the County in 
adequately identifying and/or mitigating the project’s significant, or potentially significant, 
direct, and indirect impacts on fish and wildlife (biological) resources. Based on the 
project’s avoidance of significant impacts on biological resources, in part through 
implementation of CDFW’s below recommendations which are also included in 
Attachment 1 Draft Mitigation and Monitoring Reporting Plan, CDFW concludes that an 
MND is appropriate for the project.  

I. MANDATORY FINDING OF SIGNIFICANCE. Does the Project have potential to 
substantially reduce the number or restrict the range of an endangered, rare or 
threatened species? 

Mitigation Measures and Related Impact Shortcoming  

Comment 1: Section 4.a 

Issue: Mitigation Measure (MM) BIO-1 may not reduce impacts to northern spotted owl 
(NSO) to less-than-significant.  

Specific impact: The project could result in impacts to nesting NSO including mortality 
of young and a violation of CESA, and loss of nesting habitat.  

Why impact would occur: The project is within and near potential nesting habitat for 
NSO. The closest NSO occurrences documented in the California Natural Diversity 
Database (CNDDB) are less than 0.7 miles south of the project, and there are additional 
documented NSO occurrences within the project vicinity. Although typically associated 
with old-growth or mature forests, NSO can utilize a wide variety of habitat types. They 
exhibit flexibility in their use of different forested areas for nesting, roosting, and feeding 
requirements. Typical habitat characteristics include a multi-storied structure and high 
canopy cover. The project may cause adverse impacts to NSO, such as disturbance 
from elevated sound levels or human presence near nest sites. The project also 
includes removing 76 trees which are potential NSO nesting habitat and may result in 
direct removal of a nesting site and loss of NSO eggs or young.  

DocuSign Envelope ID: 29629BC4-F035-45F4-9034-A6C26D203C0B



Georgia McDaniel 
Sonoma County 
November 29, 2022 
Page 4 

Evidence impact would be significant: NSO qualifies as a threatened animal under 
CEQA because it is listed as threatened under CESA and the federal Federal 
Endangered Species Act (ESA) (CEQA Guidelines, § 15380). If NSO are nesting on or 
near the project site during construction, the project could result in take of the species 
and a substantial reduction in its population, which is considered a Mandatory Finding of 
Significance pursuant to CEQA Guidelines section 15065, subdivision (a)(1). 

Recommended Mitigation Measures: To reduce impacts to NSO to less-than-
significant, CDFW recommends including the following mitigation measure: 

Northern Spotted Owl Habitat Assessment: At least 30 days prior to 
commencement of Project Activities, an NSO habitat assessment shall be 
conducted to determine the type of NSO habitat present on-site. The habitat 
assessment shall identify potential habitat as described on page 31 of the 
USFWS Protocol for Surveying Proposed Management Activities That May 
Impact Northern Spotted Owls. If no suitable habitat exists within 0.25 miles of 
the project, then no surveys or avoidance measures would be required. If the 
habitat assessment does identify suitable NSO habitat within 0.25 miles of the 
project, then the type of habitat within that 0.25-mile area would need to be 
identified. Results shall be submitted to CDFW for review and approval prior to 
commencement of project activities. If nesting habitat is identified on-site and will 
be impacted, two years of protocol surveys shall be conducted and 
compensatory mitigation for loss or downgraded quality of nesting habitat shall 
be provided at a minimum 3:1 mitigation to impacts ratio including permanent 
protection of nesting habitat through a conservation easement and providing 
funding for, preparing, and implementing a long-term management plan in 
perpetuity, unless otherwise approved in writing by CDFW. 

Northern Spotted Owl Surveys: No project activities within 0.25 miles of NSO 
nesting habitat shall occur from March 15 to August 31, unless NSO surveys 
have been completed by a qualified biologist following the U.S. Fish and Wildlife 
Service (USFWS) Protocol for Surveying Proposed Management Activities That 
May Impact Northern Spotted Owls, dated (revised) January 9, 2012, and the 
survey report is accepted by CDFW in writing. If breeding NSOs are detected 
during surveys, a 0.25-mile no-disturbance buffer zone shall be implemented 
around the nest. NSO surveys shall be conducted for each year project 
construction occurs. No Project activities shall occur within the buffer zone until 
the end of breeding season, or a qualified biologist determines that the nest is no 
longer active, unless otherwise approved in writing by CDFW. Alternate buffer 
zones may be proposed by a qualified biologist after conducting an auditory and 
visual disturbance analysis following the USFWS guidance, Estimating the 
Effects of Auditory and Visual Disturbance to Northern Spotted Owls and 
Marbled Murrelets in Northwestern California, dated October 1, 2020. Alternate 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 29629BC4-F035-45F4-9034-A6C26D203C0B



Georgia McDaniel 
Sonoma County 
November 29, 2022 
Page 5 

buffers must be approved in writing by CDFW. Survey results shall be provided 
to the Spotted Owl Observations Database at 
https://wildlife.ca.gov/Data/CNDDB/Spotted-Owl-Info). If NSO are detected, 
CDFW and the USFWS shall be immediately notified. If Project activities may 
impact NSO, or NSO nesting habitat, the project shall apply for and obtain an ITP 
from CDFW, as well as authorization from the USFWS, before starting project 
activities. 

Alternate buffer zones may be proposed by a Qualified Biologist after conducting 
an auditory and visual disturbance analysis following the USFWS guidance, 
Estimating the Effects of Auditory and Visual Disturbance to Northern Spotted 
Owls and Marbled Murrelets in Northwestern California, dated October 1, 2020. 
Alternate buffers must be approved in writing by CDFW. 

II. Would the Project have a substantial adverse effect, either directly or through 
habitat modifications, on any species identified as a candidate, sensitive, or 
special-status species in local or regional plans, policies, or regulations, or by 
CDFW USFWS? 

Environmental Setting and Related Impact Shortcoming 

Comment 2: Section 4.a 

Issue: The MND does not evaluate potential impacts to California red-legged frog 
(Rana draytonii). 

Specific impact and why impact would occur: Removal of riparian habitat adjacent 
to Hubert Creek and the Russian River could result in injury or direct mortality of 
California red-legged frogs if they occur on-site. Frogs can migrate long distances and 
occupy riparian habitat and any area with persistent summer moisture as they search 
for new breeding habitat. The MND does not require a survey for California red-legged 
frog prior to the commencement of project activities. 

Evidence impact would be potentially significant: California red-legged frog is listed 
as threatened under the ESA and is a California Species of Special Concern (SSC), and 
their populations throughout the State have experienced ongoing and drastic declines 
and many have been extirpated (Thompson et al. 2016). Habitat loss from growth of 
cities and suburbs, mining, overgrazing by cattle, invasion of nonnative plants, 
impoundments, water diversions, stream maintenance for flood control, degraded water 
quality, and introduced predators, such as bullfrogs are the primary threats to the 
species (Thompson et al. 2016; USFWS 2017b). Therefore, if California red-legged frog 
is present in the Project area and would be impacted, Project impacts to California red-
legged frog would be potentially significant. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 29629BC4-F035-45F4-9034-A6C26D203C0B

https://wildlife.ca.gov/Data/CNDDB/Spotted-Owl-Info


Georgia McDaniel 
Sonoma County 
November 29, 2022 
Page 6 

Recommended Mitigation Measure: For an adequate environmental setting and to 
reduce impacts to California red-legged to less-than-significant, CDFW recommends 
including the following mitigation measure: 

California Red-legged Frog Habitat Assessment and Surveys. At least two weeks 
prior to the commencement of ground-disturbing activities, the Project area and 
nearby vicinity, including a minimum 500-foot radius surrounding the Project 
activity area, shall be assessed by a Qualified Biologist for the presence of 
California red-legged frog individuals and habitat features. Habitat features 
include both aquatic habitat such as plunge pools and ponds and terrestrial 
habitat such as burrows or other refugia. If habitat occurs, then no more than 48 
hours prior to ground-disturbing activities the area shall be surveyed by a 
Qualified Biologist. The results of the habitat feature assessment and survey 
shall be submitted to CDFW for written acceptance prior to starting Project 
activities. Burrows and refugia sites shall be flagged or otherwise marked for 
avoidance; Project activities shall avoid habitat features to the extent feasible. If 
California red-legged frogs are encountered during the assessment or Project 
activities, the Project shall not proceed or all work shall cease, and CDFW shall 
immediately be notified. Work shall not proceed until the frog, through its own 
volition, moves out of harm’s way and CDFW has provided permission in writing 
to proceed with the Project. If California red-legged frog is encountered or the 
Qualified Biologist determines that impacts to the species are likely to occur, the 
Project shall consult with USFWS pursuant to the federal Endangered Species 
Act and receive written approval from CDFW prior to the impact. In this case, 
CDFW may require additional protection measures which shall be implemented 
by the Project. 

Comment 3: Section 4.a 

Issue: The MND does not evaluate potential impacts to foothill yellow-legged frog 
(Rana boylii) North Coast distinctive population segment (DPS). 

Specific impact and why impact would occur: Removal of riparian habitat adjacent 
to Hubert Creek and the Russian River could result in direct mortality of foothill yellow-
legged frog. After breeding occurs in the spring, juvenile frogs can migrate long 
distances and occupy riparian habitat, moist grassland habitat, and any area with 
persistent summer moisture as they search for new breeding habitat. The MND does 
not require a survey for foothill yellow-legged frog prior to the commencement of project 
activities. 

Evidence impact would be potentially significant: Foothill yellow-legged frog North 
Coast DPS is as an SSC. The SSC designation is given to species native to California 
satisfying one or more of the following criteria: 1) is extirpated from the State or, in the 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 29629BC4-F035-45F4-9034-A6C26D203C0B



Georgia McDaniel 
Sonoma County 
November 29, 2022 
Page 7 

case of birds, is extirpated in its primary season or breeding role; 2) is listed as 
Federally-, but not State threatened or endangered; 3) meets the State definition of 
threatened or endangered but has not formally been listed; 4) is experiencing, or 
formerly experienced, serious (noncyclical) population declines or range retractions (not 
reversed) that, if continued or resumed, could qualify it for State threatened or 
endangered status; or 5) has naturally small populations exhibiting high susceptibility to 
risk from any factor(s), that if realized, could lead to declines that would qualify it for 
State threatened or endangered status. Therefore, if foothill yellow-legged frog is 
present in the Project area and would be impacted, Project impacts to foothill yellow-
legged frog would be potentially significant. 

Recommended Mitigation Measures: For an adequate environmental setting and to 
reduce impacts to foothill yellow-legged frog to less-than-significant, CDFW 
recommends including the following mitigation measure: 

Foothill Yellow-Legged Frog - Survey Methodology: A CDFW-approved Qualified 
Biologist shall provide a foothill yellow-legged frog (FYLF) survey methodology 
for CDFW review and written approval at least 30 days prior to conducting project 
activities, unless otherwise approved in writing by CDFW. Project activities shall 
not begin until FYLF surveys have been completed using a methodology 
approved by CDFW. Survey methodology is not required if the stream is dry and 
there are no areas of persistent summer moisture present in or within 500 feet 
upstream and downstream of the project area. Survey methodology shall target 
all life stages and shall include carefully searching under rocks, within vegetation 
such as sedges and other clumped vegetation, and under undercut banks, no 
less than 50 feet from the streambed, where appropriate, and at least 500 feet 
upstream and downstream of the project area. Surveys should be conducted at 
different times of day and under variable weather conditions, if possible. Surveys 
should avoid windy days (15 miles per hour or greater), as ripples in the water 
make it more challenging to detect frogs. 

Foothill Yellow-Legged Frog Surveys: Prior to starting project activities, a CDFW-
approved Qualified Biologist shall conduct surveys for FYLF using a CDFW-
approved methodology. The results of the surveys shall be emailed to a CDFW 
representative, and the project shall receive written acceptance of the survey 
results from CDFW prior to starting project activities. The project shall install 
exclusionary fencing and prepare and implement a FYLF Relocation and Habitat 
Improvement Plan if FYLF or their eggs are found, if required and approved by 
CDFW.  

If documentation is provided to CDFW that the stream has been completely dry 
for greater than 30 days prior to starting Project activities, and no water or moist 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 29629BC4-F035-45F4-9034-A6C26D203C0B



Georgia McDaniel 
Sonoma County 
November 29, 2022 
Page 8 

areas within the streambed exist within 500 feet upstream and downstream of the 
Project site, then surveys for foothill yellow-legged frogs are not necessary. 

Comment 4: Section 4.a 

Issue: The MND does not evaluate potential impacts to Townsend’s big-eared bat 
(Corynorhinus townsendii). 

Specific impact and why impact would occur: The project would remove up to 76 
trees, which are potential roosting habitat for Townsend’s big-eared bat, which could 
result in bats being injured or killed. The MND does not require a habitat assessment or 
roosting survey for Townsend’s big-eared bats prior to the commencement of project 
activities. 

Evidence impact would be potentially significant: Removal of trees may significantly 
reduce suitable roosting habitat for Townsend’s big-eared bat and could result in the 
direct mortality of Townsend’s big-eared bat individuals if removed without proper 
habitat assessments and surveys being conducted prior to removal. Townsend’s big-
eared bat is an SSC. Townsend’s big-eared bat also has a State Ranking of S2, 
meaning it is at high risk of extirpation in the state due to a fairly restricted range, 
relatively few populations or occurrences, recent and widespread declines, threats, or 
other factors. Based on the foregoing, if Townsend’s big-eared bats are roosting within 
the trees that would be removed, project impacts to Townsend’s big-eared bat would be 
potentially significant. 

Recommended Mitigation Measures: For an adequate environmental setting and to 
reduce impacts to Townsend’s big-eared bat to less-than-significant, CDFW 
recommends including the following mitigation measure: 

Bat Protection: Prior to any tree removal, a qualified bat biologist shall conduct a 
habitat assessment for bats. The habitat assessment shall be conducted a 
minimum of 30 days prior to tree removal and shall include a visual inspection of 
potential roosting features (e.g., cavities, crevices in wood and bark, or 
exfoliating bark for colonial species, and suitable canopy for foliage-roosting 
species). If suitable habitat trees are found, they shall be flagged or otherwise 
clearly marked, CDFW shall be notified immediately, and tree trimming or 
removal shall not proceed without approval in writing from CDFW. Trees may be 
removed only if: a) presence of bats is presumed, or documented during the 
surveys described below, in trees with suitable bat habitat, and removal using the 
two-step removal process detailed below occurs only during seasonal periods of 
bat activity from approximately March 1 through April 15 and September 1 
through October 15, or b) after a qualified bat biologist, under prior written 
approval of the proposed survey methods by CDFW, conducts night emergence 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 29629BC4-F035-45F4-9034-A6C26D203C0B



Georgia McDaniel 
Sonoma County 
November 29, 2022 
Page 9 

surveys or complete visual examination of roost features that establish absence 
of roosting bats. Two-step tree removal shall be conducted over two consecutive 
days, as follows: 1) the first day (in the afternoon), under direct supervision and 
instruction by a qualified bat biologist with experience conducting two-step tree 
removal limbs and branches shall be removed by a tree cutter using chainsaws 
only. Limbs with cavities, crevices or deep bark fissures shall be avoided, and 2) 
the second day the entire tree shall be removed.  

Comment 5: Section 4.a 

Issue: The MND does evaluate potential impacts to western pond turtle (Emys 
marmorata). 

Specific impact and why impact would occur: The project would result in the 
removal of riparian habitat, which is potential dispersal habitat for western pond turtle 
and could result in direct mortality of the species. The MND does not require a survey 
for western pond turtle prior to the commencement of project activities. 

Evidence impact would be potentially significant: Removal of riparian habitat 
adjacent to Hubert Creek and the Russian River could result in direct mortality of 
western pond turtle. Western pond turtle is as an SSC. Therefore, if western pond turtle 
is present in the Project area and would be impacted, Project impacts to western pond 
turtle would be potentially significant. 

Recommended Mitigation Measures: For an adequate environmental setting and to 
reduce impacts to western pond turtle to less-than-significant, CDFW recommends 
including the following mitigation measure: 

Western Pond Turtle Surveys. A Qualified Biologist shall conduct a pre-
construction survey for the western pond turtle and their nests within 48 hours of 
the commencement of project activities. If western pond turtle or their nests are 
detected at any time CDFW shall be notified immediately, and the Qualified 
Biologist shall relocate the turtle to appropriate habitat within the stream it was 
found. The project shall prepare and implement a Western Pond Turtle Habitat 
Improvement Plan, if western pond turtle or their nests are found, if required and 
approved by CDFW. 

Comment 6: Section 4.a 

Issue: The MND does not evaluate potential impacts to Sonoma tree vole (Arborimus 
pomo). 

Specific impact and why impact would occur: Removal of up to 76 redwood 
(Sequoia sempervirens), Douglas-fir (Pseudotsuga menziesii), and other conifer trees 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 29629BC4-F035-45F4-9034-A6C26D203C0B



Georgia McDaniel 
Sonoma County 
November 29, 2022 
Page 10 

could result in direct mortality of Sonoma tree vole and destruction of active nests. The 
MND does not require a survey for Sonoma tree vole prior to the commencement of 
project activities. 

Evidence impact would be potentially significant: Sonoma tree vole is as an SSC. 
Therefore, if Sonoma tree vole is present in the Project area and would be impacted, 
Project impacts to Sonoma tree vole would be potentially significant. 

Recommended Mitigation Measures: For an adequate environmental setting and to 
reduce impacts to Sonoma tree vole to less-than-significant, CDFW recommends 
including the following mitigation measure: 

Sonoma Tree Vole Surveys: A Qualified Biologist shall conduct a pre-
construction survey for the Sonoma tree vole and their nests within 48 hours of 
the removal of trees on-site. If Sonoma tree vole or their nests are detected at 
any time CDFW shall be notified immediately. The project shall prepare and 
implement a Sonoma tree vole relocation plan, if Sonoma tree vole or their nests 
are found, if required and approved by CDFW. 

I. Would the project have a substantial adverse effect on any riparian habitat or 
other sensitive natural community identified in local or regional plans, 
policies, regulations or by CDFW or USFWS? 

Mitigation Measures and Related Impact Shortcoming  

Comment 7: Section 4.b 

Issue: Mitigation Measure (MM) BIO-2 may not reduce impacts to riparian habitat to 
less-than-significant because it does not require specific replacement ratios for riparian 
trees removed. Additionally, the project may result in a violation of Fish and Game Code 
section 1600 et seq. because the MND does not require submittal of an LSA Notification 
to CDFW and compliance with the related LSA Agreement, if issued, prior to project 
construction. 

Specific impact and why impact would occur: The project will result in approximately 
0.42 acres of permanent impacts to riparian habitat from construction of hotel buildings, 
accessory buildings, public access improvements, landscaping, driveways, and parking 
lots. MM BIO-2 does not require: 1) mitigation ratios for riparian tree removal, or 2) 
submittal of an LSA Notification to CDFW prior to initiation of Project activities. 

Evidence impact would be potentially significant: Riparian habitat is of critical 
importance to protecting and conserving the biotic and abiotic integrity of an entire 
watershed. When riparian habitat is substantially altered, riparian functions become 
impaired, thereby likely substantially adversely impacting aquatic and terrestrial species. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 29629BC4-F035-45F4-9034-A6C26D203C0B



Georgia McDaniel 
Sonoma County 
November 29, 2022 
Page 11 

Removal of trees and other vegetation may significantly reduce suitable nesting and 
roosting habitat for many bird and bat species, such as Townsend’s big-eared bat, an 
SSC, and causes the loss of important refugia for small mammals such as the Sonoma 
tree vole, also an SSC. Mature riparian trees and mid canopy vegetation would take 
considerable time to reestablish and grow to function. The project may substantially 
adversely affect riparian habitat by permanently removing riparian habitat as described 
above, resulting in the loss or degradation of this vulnerable habitat type. Therefore, if 
the above impacts to riparian habitat occur, project impacts to riparian habitat would be 
potentially significant. 

Recommended Mitigation Measures: To reduce impacts to riparian habitat to less-
than-significant, CDFW recommends that the MND explicitly require the project to 
submit an LSA Notification to CDFW and comply with the LSA Agreement if issued, 
prior to the initiation of project activities. Additionally, CDFW recommends including the 
following language: 

Riparian Tree Replacement: To mitigate for the removal of riparian trees, 
replacement trees shall be planted at the below minimum replacement to 
removal ratios, unless otherwise approved in writing by CDFW: 

 1:1 for removal of non-native trees; 

 1:1 for removal of native trees other than oak (Quercus sp.) up to 3 inches 
DBH (diameter at breast height); 

 3:1 for removal of native trees other than oak 4 to 6 inches DBH; 

 6:1 for removal of native trees other than oak greater than 6 inches DBH; 

 4:1 for removal of oak trees up to 6 inches DBH; 

 5:1 for removal of oak trees greater than 6 inches to 15 inches DBH; and 

 10:1 for removal of oak trees greater than 15 inches in diameter 

Replacement tree plantings shall consist of 5-gallon or greater saplings and 
locally-collected seeds, stakes, or other suitable nursery stock as appropriate, 
and shall be native species to the area adapted to the lighting, soil, and 
hydrological conditions at the replanting site. If acorns are used for oak tree 
replanting, each planting will include a minimum of three acorns planted at an 
approximately two-inch depth to minimize predation risk. Large acorns shall be 
selected for plantings. Replacement oaks shall come from nursery stock grown 
from locally-sourced acorns, or from acorns gathered locally, preferably from the 
same watershed in which they are planted. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 29629BC4-F035-45F4-9034-A6C26D203C0B



Georgia McDaniel 
Sonoma County 
November 29, 2022 
Page 12 

The project shall monitor and maintain, as necessary, all plants for five years to 
ensure successful revegetation. Planted trees and other vegetation shall each 
have a minimum of 80 percent survival at the end of five years. If revegetation 
survival and/or cover requirements do not meet established goals as determined 
by CDFW, the project is responsible for replacement planting, additional 
watering, weeding, invasive exotic eradication, or any other practice, to achieve 
these requirements. Replacement plants shall be monitored with the same 
survival and growth requirements for five years after planting. 

Please be advised that an LSA Agreement obtained for this project would likely 
require the above recommended mitigation measures, as applicable. 

ENVIRONMENTAL DATA 

CEQA requires that information developed in environmental impact reports and 
negative declarations be incorporated into a database which may be used to make 
subsequent or supplemental environmental determinations. (Pub. Resources Code, § 
21003, subd. (e)). Accordingly, please report any special-status species and natural 
communities detected during project surveys to CNDDB. The CNDDB field survey form, 
online field survey form, and contact information for CNDDB staff can be found at the 
following link: https://wildlife.ca.gov/data/CMNDDB/submitting-data. The types of 
information reported to CNDDB can be found at the following link: 
https://www.wildlife.ca.gov/Data/CNDDB/Plants-and-Animals. 

FILING FEES 

CDFW anticipates that the project will have an impact on fish and/or wildlife, and 
assessment of filing fees is necessary. Fees are payable upon filing of the Notice of 
Determination by the Lead Agency and serve to help defray the cost of environmental 
review by CDFW. Payment of the environmental document filing fee is required in order 
for the underlying project approval to be operative, vested, and final. (Cal. Code Regs, 
tit. 14, § 753.5; Fish & G. Code, § 711.4; Pub. Resources Code, § 21089). 

CONCLUSION 

CDFW appreciates the opportunity to comment on the MND to assist the County in 
identifying and mitigating project impacts on biological resources. To ensure significant 
impacts are adequately mitigated to a level less-than-significant, CDFW recommends 
the feasible mitigation measures described above be incorporated as enforceable 
conditions in the final CEQA document for the project.  

Questions regarding this letter or further coordination should be directed to  
James Hansen, Environmental Scientist, at (707) 576-2869 or 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 29629BC4-F035-45F4-9034-A6C26D203C0B

https://wildlife.ca.gov/data/CNDDB/submitting-data
https://www.wildlife.ca.gov/Data/CNDDB/Plants-and-Animals


Georgia McDaniel 
Sonoma County 
November 29, 2022 
Page 13 

James.Hansen@wildlife.ca.gov; or Melanie Day, Senior Environmental Scientist 
(Supervisory), at (707) 210-4415 or Melanie.Day@wildlife.ca.gov.  

Sincerely, 

Erin Chappell 
Regional Manager 
Bay Delta Region 

Attachment 1. Draft Mitigation and Monitoring Reporting Plan 

ec:  State Clearinghouse #2021080556 

  

DocuSign Envelope ID: 29629BC4-F035-45F4-9034-A6C26D203C0B

mailto:James.Hansen@wildlife.ca.gov
mailto:Melanie.Day@wildlife.ca.gov


Georgia McDaniel 
Sonoma County 
November 29, 2022 
Page 14 

Attachment 1 

Draft Mitigation and Monitoring Reporting Plan 

Biological Resources (BIO) 

Mitigation 
Measure 

(MM) 
Description Timing 

Responsible 
Party 

MM-BIO-1 Northern Spotted Owl Habitat Assessment: At least 
30 days prior to commencement of Project 
Activities, an NSO habitat assessment shall be 
conducted to determine the type of NSO habitat 
present on-site. The habitat assessment shall 
identify potential habitat as described on page 31 of 
the USFWS Protocol for Surveying Proposed 
Management Activities That May Impact Northern 
Spotted Owls. If no suitable habitat exists within 
0.25 miles of the project, then no surveys or 
avoidance measures would be required. If the 
habitat assessment does identify suitable NSO 
habitat within 0.25 miles of the project, then the type 
of habitat within that 0.25-mile area would need to 
be identified. Results shall be submitted to CDFW 
for review and approval prior to commencement of 
project activities. If nesting habitat is identified on-
site and will be impacted, two years of protocol 
surveys shall be conducted and compensatory 
mitigation for loss or downgraded quality of nesting 
habitat shall be provided at a minimum 3:1 
mitigation to impacts ratio including permanent 
protection of nesting habitat through a conservation 
easement and providing funding for, preparing, and 
implementing a long-term management plan in 
perpetuity, unless otherwise approved in writing by 
CDFW. 

Prior to 
Ground 

Disturbance  

Project 
Applicant 

MM-BIO-
1A 

Northern Spotted Owl Surveys: No project activities 
within 0.25 miles of NSO nesting habitat shall occur 
from March 15 to August 31, unless NSO surveys 
have been completed by a qualified biologist 
following the USFWS Protocol for Surveying 
Proposed Management Activities That May Impact 
Northern Spotted Owls, dated (revised) January 9, 
2012, and the survey report is accepted by CDFW 

Prior to 
Ground 

Disturbance 
and 

Continuing 
over the 

Project 
Applicant 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 29629BC4-F035-45F4-9034-A6C26D203C0B



Georgia McDaniel 
Sonoma County 
November 29, 2022 
Page 15 

in writing. If breeding NSOs are detected during 
surveys, a 0.25-mile no-disturbance buffer zone 
shall be implemented around the nest. NSO surveys 
shall be conducted for each year project 
construction occurs. No Project activities shall occur 
within the buffer zone until the end of breeding 
season, or a qualified biologist determines that the 
nest is no longer active, unless otherwise approved 
in writing by CDFW. Alternate buffer zones may be 
proposed by a qualified biologist after conducting an 
auditory and visual disturbance analysis following 
the USFWS guidance, Estimating the Effects of 
Auditory and Visual Disturbance to Northern 
Spotted Owls and Marbled Murrelets in 
Northwestern California, dated October 1, 2020. 
Alternate buffers must be approved in writing by 
CDFW. Survey results shall be provided to the 
Spotted Owl Observations Database at 
https://wildlife.ca.gov/Data/CNDDB/Spotted-Owl-
Info). If NSO are detected, CDFW and the USFWS 
shall be immediately notified. If Project activities 
may impact NSO, or NSO nesting habitat, the 
project shall apply for and obtain an ITP from 
CDFW, as well as authorization from the USFWS, 
before starting project activities. 

Alternate buffer zones may be proposed by a 
Qualified Biologist after conducting an auditory and 
visual disturbance analysis following the USFWS 
guidance, Estimating the Effects of Auditory and 
Visual Disturbance to Northern Spotted Owls and 
Marbled Murrelets in Northwestern California, dated 
October 1, 2020. Alternate buffers must be 
approved in writing by CDFW. 

Course of 
the Project 

MM-BIO-2 California Red-legged Frog Habitat Assessment and 
Surveys. At least two weeks prior to the 
commencement of ground-disturbing activities, the 
Project area and nearby vicinity, including a 
minimum 500-foot radius surrounding the Project 
activity area, shall be assessed by a Qualified 
Biologist for the presence of California red-legged 
frog individuals and habitat features. Habitat 
features include both aquatic habitat such as plunge 
pools and ponds and terrestrial habitat such as 
burrows or other refugia. If habitat occurs, then no 
more than 48 hours prior to ground-disturbing 

Prior to 
Ground 

Disturbance 
and 

Continuing 
over the 

Course of 
the Project 

Project 
Applicant 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 29629BC4-F035-45F4-9034-A6C26D203C0B

https://wildlife.ca.gov/Data/CNDDB/Spotted-Owl-Info
https://wildlife.ca.gov/Data/CNDDB/Spotted-Owl-Info


Georgia McDaniel 
Sonoma County 
November 29, 2022 
Page 16 

activities the area shall be surveyed by a Qualified 
Biologist. The results of the habitat feature 
assessment and survey shall be submitted to 
CDFW for written acceptance prior to starting 
Project activities. Burrows and refugia sites shall be 
flagged or otherwise marked for avoidance; Project 
activities shall avoid habitat features to the extent 
feasible. If California red-legged frogs are 
encountered during the assessment or Project 
activities, the Project shall not proceed or all work 
shall cease, and CDFW shall immediately be 
notified. Work shall not proceed until the frog, 
through its own volition, moves out of harm’s way 
and CDFW has provided permission in writing to 
proceed with the Project. If California red-legged 
frog is encountered or the Qualified Biologist 
determines that impacts to the species are likely to 
occur, the Project shall consult with USFWS 
pursuant to the federal Endangered Species Act 
and receive written approval from CDFW prior to the 
impact. In this case, CDFW may require additional 
protection measures which shall be implemented by 
the Project. 

MM-BIO-3 Foothill Yellow-Legged Frog - Survey Methodology: 
A CDFW-approved Qualified Biologist shall provide 
a foothill yellow-legged frog (FYLF) survey 
methodology for CDFW review and written approval 
at least 30 days prior to conducting project activities, 
unless otherwise approved in writing by CDFW. 
Project activities shall not begin until FYLF surveys 
have been completed using a methodology 
approved by CDFW. Survey methodology is not 
required if the stream is dry and there are no areas 
of persistent summer moisture present in or within 
500 feet upstream and downstream of the project 
area. Survey methodology shall target all life stages 
and shall include carefully searching under rocks, 
within vegetation such as sedges and other 
clumped vegetation, and under undercut banks, no 
less than 50 feet from the streambed, where 
appropriate, and at least 500 feet upstream and 
downstream of the project area. Surveys should be 
conducted at different times of day and under 
variable weather conditions, if possible. Surveys 
should avoid windy days (15 miles per hour or 

Prior to 
Ground 

Disturbance 

Project 
Applicant 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 29629BC4-F035-45F4-9034-A6C26D203C0B



Georgia McDaniel 
Sonoma County 
November 29, 2022 
Page 17 

greater), as ripples in the water make it more 
challenging to detect frogs. 

MM-BIO-
3A 

Foothill Yellow-Legged Frog Surveys: Prior to 
starting project activities, a CDFW-approved 
Qualified Biologist shall conduct surveys for FYLF 
using a CDFW-approved methodology. The results 
of the surveys shall be emailed to a CDFW 
representative, and the project shall receive written 
acceptance of the survey results from CDFW prior 
to starting project activities. The project shall install 
exclusionary fencing and prepare and implement a 
FYLF Relocation and Habitat Improvement Plan if 
FYLF or their eggs are found, if required and 
approved by CDFW.  

If documentation is provided to CDFW that the 
stream has been completely dry for greater than 30 
days prior to starting Project activities, and no water 
or moist areas within the streambed exist within 500 
feet upstream and downstream of the Project site, 
then surveys for foothill yellow-legged frogs are not 
necessary. 

Prior to 
Ground 

Disturbance 
and 

Continuing 
over the 

Course of 
the Project  

Project 
Applicant 

MM-BIO-4 Bat Protection: Prior to any tree removal, a qualified 
bat biologist shall conduct a habitat assessment for 
bats. The habitat assessment shall be conducted a 
minimum of 30 days prior to tree removal and shall 
include a visual inspection of potential roosting 
features (e.g., cavities, crevices in wood and bark, 
or exfoliating bark for colonial species, and suitable 
canopy for foliage-roosting species). If suitable 
habitat trees are found, they shall be flagged or 
otherwise clearly marked, CDFW shall be notified 
immediately, and tree trimming or removal shall not 
proceed without approval in writing from CDFW. 
Trees may be removed only if: a) presence of bats 
is presumed, or documented during the surveys 
described below, in trees with suitable bat habitat, 
and removal using the two-step removal process 
detailed below occurs only during seasonal periods 
of bat activity from approximately March 1 through 
April 15 and September 1 through October 15, or b) 
after a qualified bat biologist, under prior written 
approval of the proposed survey methods by 
CDFW, conducts night emergence surveys or 
complete visual examination of roost features that 

Prior to Tree 
Removal  

Project 
Applicant 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 29629BC4-F035-45F4-9034-A6C26D203C0B



Georgia McDaniel 
Sonoma County 
November 29, 2022 
Page 18 

establish absence of roosting bats. Two-step tree 
removal shall be conducted over two consecutive 
days, as follows: 1) the first day (in the afternoon), 
under direct supervision and instruction by a 
qualified bat biologist with experience conducting 
two-step tree removal limbs and branches shall be 
removed by a tree cutter using chainsaws only. 
Limbs with cavities, crevices or deep bark fissures 
shall be avoided, and 2) the second day the entire 
tree shall be removed. 

MM-BIO-5 Western Pond Turtle Surveys. A Qualified Biologist 
shall conduct a pre-construction survey for the 
western pond turtle and their nests within 48 hours 
of the commencement of project activities. If 
western pond turtle or their nests are detected at 
any time CDFW shall be notified immediately, and 
the Qualified Biologist shall relocate the turtle to 
appropriate habitat within the stream it was found. 
The project shall prepare and implement a Western 
Pond Turtle Habitat Improvement Plan, if western 
pond turtle or their nests are found, if required and 
approved by CDFW. 

Prior to 
Ground 

Disturbance 
and 

Continuing 
over the 

Course of 
the Project 

Project 
Applicant 

MM-BIO-6 Sonoma Tree Vole Surveys: A Qualified Biologist 
shall conduct a pre-construction survey for the 
Sonoma tree vole and their nests within 48 hours of 
the removal of trees on-site. If Sonoma tree vole or 
their nests are detected at any time CDFW shall be 
notified immediately. The project shall prepare and 
implement a Sonoma tree vole relocation plan, if 
Sonoma tree vole or their nests are found, if 
required and approved by CDFW. 

Prior to Tree 
Removal 

and Ground 
Disturbance 

Project 
Applicant 

MM-BIO-7 LSA Compliance: The project shall submit an LSA 
Notification to CDFW and comply with the LSA 
Agreement if issued, prior to the initiation of project 
activities.  

Riparian Tree Replacement: To mitigate for the 
removal of riparian trees, replacement trees shall be 
planted at the below minimum replacement to 
removal ratios, unless otherwise approved in writing 
by CDFW: 

 1:1 for removal of non-native trees; 

Within the 
Same 

Calendar 
Year as 
Project 
Impacts 

Project 
Applicant 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 29629BC4-F035-45F4-9034-A6C26D203C0B



Georgia McDaniel 
Sonoma County 
November 29, 2022 
Page 19 

 1:1 for removal of native trees other than 
oak (Quercus sp.) up to 3 inches DBH (diameter at 
breast height); 

 3:1 for removal of native trees other than 
oak 4 to 6 inches DBH; 

 6:1 for removal of native trees other than 
oak greater than 6 inches DBH; 

 4:1 for removal of oak trees up to 6 inches 
DBH; 

 5:1 for removal of oak trees greater than 6 
inches to 15 inches DBH; and 

 10:1 for removal of oak trees greater than 15 
inches in diameter 

Replacement tree plantings shall consist of 5-gallon 
or greater saplings and locally-collected seeds, 
stakes, or other suitable nursery stock as 
appropriate, and shall be native species to the area 
adapted to the lighting, soil, and hydrological 
conditions at the replanting site. If acorns are used 
for oak tree replanting, each planting will include a 
minimum of three acorns planted at an 
approximately two-inch depth to minimize predation 
risk. Large acorns shall be selected for plantings. 
Replacement oaks shall come from nursery stock 
grown from locally-sourced acorns, or from acorns 
gathered locally, preferably from the same 
watershed in which they are planted. 

The project shall monitor and maintain, as 
necessary, all plants for five years to ensure 
successful revegetation. Planted trees and other 
vegetation shall each have a minimum of 80 percent 
survival at the end of five years. If revegetation 
survival and/or cover requirements do not meet 
established goals as determined by CDFW, the 
project is responsible for replacement planting, 
additional watering, weeding, invasive exotic 
eradication, or any other practice, to achieve these 
requirements. Replacement plants shall be 
monitored with the same survival and growth 
requirements for five years after planting. 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 29629BC4-F035-45F4-9034-A6C26D203C0B


	LRR LUC 2.09.23 agenda
	DRAFT Minutes LRR LUC 11.22.22
	PLP18-0012 Legal Notice MND for 2-3-2023
	Guernewood Park Resort-SCH2021080556-McDaniel-HANSEN112922
	Subject:  Guernewood Park Resort, Mitigated Negative Declaration, SCH No. 2021080556, Town of Guerneville, Sonoma County
	CDFW ROLE
	Regulatory Requirements
	California Endangered Species Act
	Lake and Streambed Alteration
	Raptors and Other Nesting Birds

	PROJECT DESCRIPTION SUMMARY
	Comments and Recommendations
	Comment 1: Section 4.a
	Comment 2: Section 4.a
	Comment 3: Section 4.a
	Comment 4: Section 4.a
	Comment 5: Section 4.a
	Comment 6: Section 4.a
	Comment 7: Section 4.b

	ENVIRONMENTAL DATA
	FILING FEES
	CONCLUSION
	Attachment 1




